### bookboon.com

### **Internal Communication Management**

Individual and Organizational Outcomes Antonio Ragusa



Antonio Ragusa

### **Internal Communication Management**

Individual and Organizational Outcomes

Internal Communication Management: Individual and Organizational Outcomes 1st edition © 2010 Antonio Ragusa & <u>bookboon.com</u> ISBN 978-87-7681-602-5

	Introduction	7
	Internal communication outcomes	14
1	Individual outcomes	15
1.1	Commitment	15
1.2	Trust	15
1.3	Employee and job satisfaction	16
1.4	Improved performance	17
1.5	Development	18
1.6	Organizational supportive attitude (OSA)	18
1.7	Motivation	19
1.8	Sense of belonging	19
1.9	Buying in	19
1.10	Engagement	19
1.11	Loyalty	20
1.12	Empowerment	20



Download free eBooks at bookboon.com

Click on the ad to read more

#### Contents

2	Organizational outcomes	21
2.1	Corporate reputation	21
2.2	Innovation	22
2.3	Organisational success and improved business results	22
2.4	Support to change	23
2.5	Knowledge sharing	25
2.6	Social capital enhancement	25
2.7	Ethical relationships	26
2.8	Unified corporate identity	26
2.9	Reduction of the potential for misunderstandings, discrepancies	
	and conflict	27
2.10	Service quality enhancement	28
2.11	Shared vision and interpretation	28
2.12	Organisational learning	29
2.13	Competitive advantage	29





Internal Communication Management: Individual and Organizational Outcomes

3	Conclusion	30
4	About the Author	32
5	References	33



Win one of the six full tuition scholarships for International MBA or MSc in Management





NYENRODE A MASTER CHALLENGE 2013 powered by DutchNews.nl

### Introduction

As a strategic process, internal communication can motivate and empower a company's employees. If employees do not know what their company's objectives are and their part in reaching those goals, and if they do not receive feedback about their work, they may lose motivation and interest. The company's performance may also be negatively affected. Internal communication therefore has a critical role in organizations. Many studies confirm that companies with effective communications strategies are often more successful than those with poor communications (Argenti and Forman, 2002; Tourish and Hargie, 2004a; Kalla 2005).

Although many scholars and practitioners consider internal communication central to the success of a company, an imbalance exists between the perceived importance of communication and the actual attention and resources devoted to it (Argenti and Forman, 2002; Tourish and Hargie, 2004b).

Scholars have studied only a few aspects of internal communication, although some have identified the research gaps. Hardaker and Fill (2005) found little research on how messages targeted at employees should be designed or delivered. Forman and Argenti (2005) underlined that, although an entire discipline is devoted to the study of organizational strategy, including implementation, the links between communication and strategy have garnered little attention. Even studies of strategic implementation (e.g. Galbraith and Nathanson, 1978; Lorange, 1982) make communication a peripheral concern, focusing instead on issues such as organizational structure and processes, reward systems and resource allocation. Despite the increasing interest in a company's ability to communicate its strategy to key constituencies, researchers have yet to look specifically at the role of the corporate communication function in implementing strategy and building a company's reputation and brand (Forman and Argenti, 2005).

Goodman and Truss (2004) found little research on the precise mechanisms that managers can use to communicate effectively with employees during a change programme. Henderson and McAdam (2003) state that much of the existing research was not conducted in organisational settings, and few studies examine communication processes in real companies.

But our literature review shows that many authors have analysed the results that internal communication can produce, although research appears to be quite fragmented, lacking any point of synthesis or systematic organization.

Our purpose in this study is therefore to help both management students and practitioners understand the importance of the internal communication process, by systematizing information into a unified picture and eliminating the current analytic fragmentation.

Introduction

#### In particular, we intend to:

- present and discuss the advantages that scholars have so far identified as potential outcomes of the internal communication process;
- identify other research gaps in the internal communication studies, in order to stimulate further research.

#### **Defining Internal communication**

The multifaceted and potentially very broad nature of internal communication has resulted in the existence of many different definitions. On the whole, there does not appear to be any established and consistent usage of terms across the field (Kalla, 2005) and each author emphasizes one or more specific aspect of the internal communication phenomenon.

First of all, there is evidently a dichotomy between the singular form (*internal communication*) and plural form (*internal communications*) of the term. Spence (1994, p. 86) argues that "[w]hile interpretations of the terms can vary slightly the most widespread practice is to consider communication (in the singular) as being the social process which ordinarily operates when personal interaction takes place. Communications (plural) is used more specifically to indicate the channels and the technological means by which this process may be facilitated".

For example, choosing the plural, Frank and Brownell (1989) define internal communications as transactions between individuals and groups at various levels and in different areas of specialization. Furthermore, these transactions are intended to design (and redesign) organizations and coordinate day-to-day activities.

Kalla (2005) defines integrated internal communications as "all formal and informal communication taking place internally at all levels of an organisation - [...] the term internal communications is used in the plural because the goal is to capture all the communication processes that simultaneously take place inside an organisation".

With the singular form, Bovée and Thill (2000, p. 7) define internal communication as "the exchange of information and ideas within an organization", whereas Argenti (2003, p. 128) contends that "internal communication is, in essence, about creating an atmosphere of respect for all employees within the organisation. Communication from management should come directly from one manager to the next, and from supervisor to employee, but as companies grow larger and more complex, this often becomes more difficult – hence the need for the internal communication function".

On the other hand, Argenti and Forman (2002), distinguish corporate communication from corporate communications, by the former being the *process* and the latter the *products* of communication, e.g. memos, web sites, and e-mails.

Kitchen & Daly (2002) point out that "definitions and discussions concerning internal communication do not abound in either the academic or practitioner literature, but the function is widely discussed under the headings of employee communication (Argenti, 1998), organisational communication (Grunig, 1992) and corporate or business communication (Kitchen, 1997; Rawlins, 1993; Oliver, 1997)".

Given the different possible meanings attributed to internal communication(s), it is necessary to clarify our own perspective. For our purposes, we refer to internal communication as the specific process of the exchange of messages between management and employees of a company, also through the aid of a dedicated internal communication department. This research aims at contributing to a more structured and effective managerial approach to this specific activity, which – as we will demonstrate – can potentially generate many benefits for an organization and its members.

Therefore, we do not consider internal communication in a broad sense, as *all* the formal and informal communication taking place within an organisation. Instead, we refer to the specific and narrower process of communication between management and employees that is managed by a specific internal communication department.

#### Internal communication and Internal Marketing

Both academics and practitioners have studied and developed internal communication, also as a component of the internal marketing mix.

According to the internal marketing perspective, employees should be considered and treated as internal customers, whose needs should be satisfied with the same attention, diligence and methods dedicated to external customers. The adoption of an internal marketing approach ensures employee loyalty, motivation and productivity. The positive consequence is that, by satisfying the needs of internal customers, an organisation should be in a better position to deliver the necessary quality to satisfy external customers (Ahmed et al. 2003).

The origin of the internal marketing concept can be found in the works of Berry (1980, 1981, 1983) and Grönroos (1981, 1983). According to Berry (1981, p. 33), The same marketing tools used to draw bank customers can serve to attract and retain the best employees, and earn the best performance from them."

According to this perspective, customers who purchase goods and services differ little from those who "buy" jobs from companies, that is, who work there. Internal marketing adopts the traditional marketing to develop and distribute "job products" to employees, the internal customers. From this perspective, all employees of the firm are internal customers and must understand how they impact on customer value through organizational processes (Berry, Conant, and Parasuraman 1991; Gummesson 1987; Hartline and Ferrell 1996; Hartline, Maxham, and McKee 2000; Kennedy, Lassk, and Goolsby 2002; Lings 1999; Tansuhaj, Wong, and McCullough 1987).

As argued by Keller et al. (2006), *job products* are defined as the information, knowledge, physical and social environment and tools necessary for internal customers to successfully perform their (job) duties so as achieve organizational and personal workplace goals. *Internal customers* are frontline employees who receive internal job products, and *internal suppliers* are those who provide such products and may consist of entire departments or the firm as a whole (Foreman and Money 1995), but also supervisors and co-workers (Kennedy, Lassk, and Goolsby 2002; Rafiq and Ahmed 1993; Keller et al., 2006).

Rafiq and Ahmed (1993) depict *internal products* as the values and attitudes of employees needed to achieve successful marketing strategies, and the training required to develop internal customer knowledge. *Price* is defined as the cost to employees of gaining the new knowledge, while *internal promotion* pertains to effective communication to employees, for example, the use of face-to-face interactions, recognition, and reward systems. The same authors refer to the tools used to distribute products to internal customers as *internal place*. Examples include formal meetings and the use of consultants for providing in-house educational advancement. They also advocate the use of *physical evidence*, that is, the workplace environment. This can include a combination of memos, training manuals, special training by external sources, and processes for product receipt that parallel their conceptualization of internal place.

Several experts (Thomas, 1978; Gronroos, 1990; Kotler, 2000) have also proposed a conceptual framework of service marketing known as the "Service Triangle", to incorporate the concepts of internal marketing, external marketing and interaction marketing into a more intensive concept (San Hwang and Jang Chi 2005).

In developing these marketing strategies, attention should be paid to conventional marketing strategies, with the aim of providing services that are unique and acceptable to external customers, thus securing their loyalty. Attention is also given to the value of employees, with the aim of ensuring their contribution to the overall "organizational capital" of the business.

Kotler (2000) explains that internal marketing may even be more important than conventional external marketing. Furthermore, Greene et al., (1994) point out that internal marketing is the key to excellent service and ultimately to successful external marketing.

Regarding internal communication as a component of the internal marketing mix opens up a wide range of potential concepts and practical consequences. First of all, there is integration with external communication. As Ahmed et al. (2003) observe, if the internal communication strategies are crafted "in parallel with external marketing communications, advertised promises stand better chances of being fulfilled to the required level of performance, because staff is better prepared to perform them. IM forces companies to be more empathic in the design of their communications to employees." (Ahmed et al. 2003).

Another practical aspect is that a careful segmentation of the "internal publics" of the organization is advisable, in order to produce messages that fully satisfy the differentiated communication needs.

Varey (1995) argues that internal marketing should be a two-way communication process between employees and management.

Internal marketing could affect the adoption of internal communication improvement, and encourage employees to participate in the use of customer-focused quality management techniques for all organizational processes (Ballantyne, 1991; Varey, 1993).

#### Internal communication and organizational communication

Compared to internal communication, organizational communication represents a broader concept, which comprises also external communication and all the communication activities that regard an organization.

Researchers like Invernizzi (2000, 2003) and Cocozza (2006, 2010) argue that internal communication has evolved, both in its contents and methods, so that nowadays, the most appropriate concept is the broad term "organizational communication". Internal communication designates a specific way of managing communication tools, initiatives and modalities with respect to the internal publics. By contrast, organizational communication relates to the same set of tools and modalities, but also considers other publics which are traditionally considered external to the organization. Organizational communication is therefore the natural extension of internal communication, whose practices and purposes have broadened, so as to encompass the development and management of an organization as a whole.

Organizational communication aims at coordinating and strengthening the relationships between the organization and all its stakeholders, both internal (such as employees) and external (customers, institutions and so on). Invernizzi (2000) therefore defines organizational communication as the set of strategic and operational processes aimed to create, exchange and share informative and values-related messages within the diverse relationship networks that constitute the organization's essence and its position in the environment.

This pertains to internal members, external-internal partners and all the external players who are somehow interested or involved in the life of the organisation, including its staff or customers.

The most important aspect of organizational communication is that it identifies and integrates all the communication processes necessary for the organization's life and development. It incorporates the concept of internal communication, which itself has become too narrow, and includes external communication (Invernizzi, 2000).

In his analysis of internal communication practice in Italy, Cesaria (2000) also describes the evolution from a simple, linear view of internal communication to a more complex, strategic concept of organizational communication. He relates this change to several factors, such as the emergence of network forms of organizations, the eradication of organizational boundaries, emergence of team-based knowledge workers, need to combine different kinds of knowledge, desire for a new organizational democracy, and the enormous potential of information and communication technologies (ICTs).



Click on the ad to read more

Cocozza (2006, 2010) points out the importance of overcoming the traditional and rigid distinction between internal communication, external communication and marketing communication, and thus suggests adopting the organizational communication perspective. The author argues that such an integrated approach is better able to achieve important organizational results, such as promoting the company's mission, sharing strategic objectives and corporate culture, and creating a new corporate image, based on the transparency of organizational processes and product visibility.

A broader look at the organizational communication literature shows that this field is highly diverse and fragmented. It spans communication at the micro, meso, and macro levels; formal and informal communications; internal organizational communication practices (newsletters, presentations, strategic communications, work direction, performance reviews and meetings), as well as externally directed communications (public, media, inter-organizational). Innovation, organizational learning, knowledge management, conflict management, diversity, and communication technologies are also addressed.

Views of organizational communication can be categorized as those that consider organizational communication merely as one aspect of an organization (for example, Drenth et al. 1998), compared to those that see it as the underlying basis of the organization itself. This latter viewpoint is reflected by Myers and Myers (1982:xv), who define organizational communication as "the central binding force that permits coordination among people and thus allows for organized behaviour," and Rogers and Rogers (1976:3), who argue that "the behaviour of individuals in organizations is best understood from a communication point of view."

Communication is not only an essential aspect of these recent organizational changes, but effective communication can be seen as the very foundation of modern organizations (Grenier and Metes 1992; D'Aprix 1996; Witherspoon 1997; von Krogh et al. 2000).

As previously stated, we concur fully with the notion that communication represents a pre-condition for the existence of any organization. We also believe that the conceptual approach in terms of organizational communication is absolutely correct, because fully effective communication can only stem from its integrated management, which is able to coordinate within a coherent system, both the internal and external communication flows. However, in this context, it is useful to refer to the narrower concept of internal communication, thus excluding external communication and restricting the scope of our analysis, so as to provide more specific and useful insights on the topic.

### Internal communication outcomes

Our analysis indicated that internal communication outcomes can be grouped into two categories: individual and organizational. *Individual outcomes* include the positive effects that internal communication may have on an employee as an individual. *Organizational outcomes* refer to the advantages that internal communication can bring to an organization as a whole. Organizational outputs can be considered *second-level* outputs because they exist only as long as the individual outputs occur. The organizational outputs result from the sum of the individual outputs.



#### **MBA at Maastricht School of Management**

If the goal of your career is to be an uncontested asset to company operations in emerging and developing markets, then the MBA of Maastricht School of Management is the right program for you. This internationally accredited one-year fulltime program combines management theory with practical experience and applied research. You will be trained within an international and multicultural environment to become one of tomorrow's global leaders.

For more information, check out our website **www.msm.nl**, call us on + 31 43 38 70 808 or send an e-mail to admissions@msm.nl

the globally networked management school



## 1 Individual outcomes

#### 1.1 Commitment

Communication, as the literature documents, creates an environment for commitment and is thus an important antecedent (Katz and Kahn, 1978; Foy, 1994; Meyer and Allen, 1997; Postmes et al, 2001; Elving, 2005). Mowday et al. (1979) define organizational commitment as "the relative strength of an individual's identification with, and involvement in, a particular organization," what some researchers call affective commitment (McFarlane et al., 1993; Meyer and Allen, 1997). In practical terms, this implies that an employee is committed to, and wishes to act in, the best interests of an organization because of his/her emotional attachment to it.

Mathieu and Zadjac's meta-analysis (1990) shows communication to have a fairly strong effect on commitment. There is evidence that information provided by management on running the business as well as policies affects commitment (DeCotiis and Summers, 1987). But other research suggests that communication is especially effective in fostering participation and commitment (Trombetta and Rogers, 1988; Welsch and LaVan, 1981). Similarly, Unzicker et al., (2000) contend that a positive relationship exists between effective internal communication and employee commitment to and perceptions of their firm. Postmes et al.'s study (2001) shows that direct communication between management and employees correlates strongly to commitment: "...employees were strongly committed if they obtained adequate information to perform their task and this information was presented to them via formal bureaucratic channels rather than informal channels. Interpersonal communication with peers, and direct superiors predicted commitment less than communication with more senior management did, and communication with a socio-emotional content was less predictive of commitment than formal communication was" (Postmes et al, 2001, p. 231). In a study that explores managing the psychological contract, Guest and Conway (2002) report the importance of communication directly related to daily work: the accuracy of instructions or the quality of feedback about an employee's work. Drawing on previous and original research, De Bussy et al. (2003) conclude that the higher the quality of employees' task-related information, the more commitment they will have towards the organization.

#### 1.2 Trust

Another positive outcome associated with good internal communication is trust, the basis for interpersonal relationships, cooperation *and* stability in social institutions (Lewicki et al., 1998). Employees want to trust their companies and acquire company-related information directly. They want to contribute to future decisions of their company and to be proud of the company they work for (Dortok, 2006).

Among the different types of trust are trust in the management (Creed *and* Miles, 1996; Tyler *and* Degoey, 1996; Kramer *and* Tyler, 1996; Bijlsma-Frankema, 2001); trust in colleagues (Sheppard *and* Tuchinsky, 1996; Lewicki *and* Bunker, 1996; Sitkin *and* Roth, 1993); *and* interpersonal trust in the general *organizational* context (Mayer et al, 1995). Based on a review by Mayer et al. (1995), De Ridder and Human (2004) conclude that the most salient characteristics that determine trustworthiness are ability (for example, Cook and Wall, 1980; Sitkin and Roth, 1993), benevolence (for example, Cook and Wall, 1980; Sitkin and Roth, 1993), benevolence (for example, Cook and Wall, 1980; Mishra, 1996) and integrity (for example, Butler, 1999). Theorists have not surprisingly linked the quality of communication and trust (Butler and Cantrell, 1994), which allows focusing on the role of openness in communication (Ruppel and Harrington, 2000; Butler, 1991; Whitener et al, 1998). As Zand (1997) points out, management demonstrates its trustworthiness by releasing information about goals, organizational problems and organizational policy, which Dortok (2006) terms 'non-task-related' information. De Ridder and Human (2004) contend that the higher the quality of non-task-related information, the more trust employees will place in management. In their study of new media in internal communication, De Bussy et al. (2003) point out that "the use of new media in the workplace is positively related to the perception of mutual trust within the organization".

#### 1.3 Employee and job satisfaction

Davies and Chun (2002) define *employee satisfaction* as "the degree which an employee has positive emotions towards the "organization", not towards the "specific work role", which is part of "*job satisfaction*". Consistent support for a positive relationship between communication and both employee and job satisfaction exists in the literature (King et al.; 1988 Dolphin 2005). Good communication, as George and Berry (1981) and others have argued, can keep levels of satisfaction high (Asif and Sargeant, 2000). Satisfaction as an outcome of internal communication has been explored as part of internal marketing. When frontline employees have the tools to achieve goals, experience appropriate interactions, recognize efforts of colleagues, and obtain training and encouragement, they will be more satisfied with their jobs and the organization (Berry 1981, 1983; Lings 1999). Frontline employees experience satisfaction as increased self-worth and purpose, for example, when they participate in knowledge discovery and generation (Ballantyne 1997).

According to Ing-San Hwang and Der-Jang Chi (2005), an enterprise's internal marketing can improve employee job satisfaction (Tansuhaj et al., 1991; Rafiq and Ahmed, 2000; Conduit and Mavondo, 2001) and in turn improve the enterprise's performance (Pfeffer and Veiga, 1999; Nebeker et al., 2001). Singh (2000) offers support for positive relationships among internal marketing and internal customer job satisfaction and commitment. Drawing on the results of this research, Keller et al. (2006) conclude that the internal marketing mix, and thus also internal communication, is positively associated with internal customer satisfaction.

#### 1.4 Improved performance

Internal customer performance refers to the outputs of the employee when performing his or her job duties (Keller et al. 2006). Proponents of internal marketing believe that satisfied internal customers achieve higher performance (Ballantyne 1997). In particular, frontline employees perform tasks, communicate, and expand their individual capabilities more competently when they have quality exchanges with internal suppliers (Ballantyne 1997; Berry 1981; Lings 1999). Production errors, deficiencies in service, and overall performance issues can often be averted if the network of employees in a process focuses on the downstream commitments.

Keller et al. (2006) state that process work and internal marketing are similar to a relay race. The teammate holding the baton (internal supplier) must accurately place it in the hand of the next runner (internal customer) at the right time, in the right position, and at the right speed. Only when the baton is there and the next runner concentrates fully on running are relays won. In essence, when internal suppliers provide the proper support to internal customers, they can then focus on their performance.





For example, a major telecommunications firm implemented internal marketing with improved productivity and on-time deliveries while reducing the need for checkpoint inspections (Gummesson 1987). Tansuhaj, Randall, and McCullough (1991) report similar results within the financial industry. Other researchers using service blueprinting and internal marketing schematics have concluded that satisfied internal customers are more likely to achieve successful exchanges with both internal and external customers (Lings 1999; Lings and Brooks 1998). When the organization develops a satisfied workforce through internal marketing, and thus through internal communication, greater service-type behaviours among entire work groups ensues.

#### 1.5 Development

Proctor and Doukakis (2003) view internal communication as an integral part of the employee development practice. They emphasize the need to develop a formal, co-ordinated, and organisation-wide internal communication system that facilitates the implementation and practice of employee development Employee development can change staff attitudes and behaviour to emphasize service and customer orientation. Lack of an internal communication system for employee development suggests that appropriate information is not properly communicated to staff and may not be implemented well.

#### 1.6 Organizational supportive attitude (OSA)

De Ridder and Human (2004) show that high quality internal communication may promote an organisational supportive attitude (OSA), defined as a positive attitude toward the organization's strategic direction. They propose two ways to view support. First, employees may be supportive because they do not differentiate between their own and organizational activities, seeing themselves at one with the organization. This feeling is related to the concept of commitment and especially to affective commitment (Allen and Meyer, 1996). Affective commitment refers to a feeling of solidarity with the organization. The greater an employee's commitment to the organization, the more supportive he/she will be toward the organization's strategic direction (De Ridder and Human, 2004). According to these authors, employees can also develop a supportive attitude if they believe that everything is functioning smoothly, relying on others (especially management) to ensure that actions will follow a dependable course. If employees believe that management is competent and has integrity, they will support management's plans. Thus, trust in management creates a supportive attitude and the more employees trust management, the more supportive they will be of the organization's strategic direction (De Ridder and Human, 2004). Commitment to the organization and trust in management are two distinctive concepts, but they both have a positive relationship with good internal communication, which in turns affects a supportive organizational attitude positively (De Ridder and Human, 2004).

Individual outcomes

#### 1.7 Motivation

Employees who are not informed of events become demotivated, as communication is the key to motivation, according to some researchers (Kitchen, 1997; Argenti, 1998). Enlightened managers know that the more information they provide to employees the more likely they are to be highly motivated, resulting in better performance and furthering the goals of the organization itself (Argenti, 1998).

#### 1.8 Sense of belonging

Postmes et al. (2001), cited also by Elving (2005), suggest that employees' sense of belonging as a possible outcome of internal communication and, in particular, of top-down communication: "...does not primarily depend on the quality of their informal and social-emotional interactions with peers and proximate colleagues, but it is related more strongly to their appreciation of management's communication" (Postmes et al, 2001, p. 240).

#### 1.9 Buying in

The notion of employees buying in to organizational vision, goals and strategy as an outcome of internal communication is identified by Thomson and Hecker (2000), who say that buy-in consists of two main components, an *intellectual* element and an *emotional* element. The intellectual element is concerned with employees buying in and aligning themselves with the organization's strategy, issues and overall direction. The emotional element is concerned with employees taking ownership of their contribution and becoming committed to the achievement of stated goals. The term buy-in suggests a form of internal communication which is essentially one of persuasion as part of a top-down process (Thomson and Hecker; 2000; Hardaker and Fill, 2005).

#### 1.10 Engagement

Hardaker and Fill (2005) tie internal communication to employees' engagement, suggesting that it reflects a more symmetrical communication process (Grunig and Hunt, 1984) within a conceptual framework that serves to develop employees as part of a corporate service brand (Hardaker and Fill, 2005). Employee engagement today represents one of the company's main priorities. The goal is to make sure people have the knowledge and understanding of business priorities to guide their decisions and actions, and the capability – in terms of skills, tools, processes and overall organizational culture – to contribute to those goals. This definition implies the need to build intellectual engagement through knowledge and maintain emotional engagement through organizational culture. Thomson and Hecker (2000) note that the level of organizational communication, as perceived by employees, equates with their level of engagement. The better the communication, the higher the level of engagement.

Guidance on what constitutes good communication and how to best construct and deliver information to achieve employee engagement are also relevant (Hardaker and Fill, 2005).

Individual outcomes

#### 1.11 Loyalty

Asif and Sargeant (2000) point to the concept of loyalty as an outcome of internal communication. This emerged from their research as a separate issue related to commitment. Loyalty, they add, "is a particularly difficult issue for communicators to address, since it is clearly desirable for each institution to engender loyalty at a global level, to ensure that staff critical to the success of each organization are maintained. However, communicating the need for loyalty to those employee groups to whom the bank is not prepared to show loyalty in return could well serve to engender ill-feeling. Once again a segmented approach to internal communications would appear to be warranted".

Loyalty as a possible outcome of internal communication occurs in the work of Gilly and Wolfinbarger (1998), who argue that communication through which the organization confirms and reinforces its own symbols, values and assumptions – in effect its own cultural identity – serves as a source of identity, motivation and loyalty (Hardaker and Fill, 2005). From an internal marketing perspective, just as external customer loyalty is driven by customer satisfaction (Heskett *et al.*, 1995) so too is employee (internal customer) loyalty. Jobs can be viewed as products that must attract, develop and motivate employees, satisfying the needs and wants of these internal customers while addressing the overall objectives of the organization (Gronroos, 1990, 1993; De Bussy et al. 2003).

#### 1.12 Empowerment

"Empowerment" as an outcome of internal communication appears with particular emphasis in Asif and Sargeant's (2000) and Proctor and Doukakis' (2003) research. In their study on the internal communication system of two UK banks, Asif and Sargeant (2000) note that the success of internal communication in creating a greater degree of staff empowerment was a factor mentioned in the overwhelming majority of their interviews. According to Proctor and Doukakis (2003), empowerment – together with trust, commitment and loyalty – can be developed with the help of internal marketing, which includes internal communication. The kind of the information presented by management and how it is communicated may be key determinants of whether employee development succeeds in the workplace (Proctor and Doukakis, 2003).

Click on the ad to read more

#### Organizational outcomes 2

#### 2.1 Corporate reputation

Based on a report titled 'The Most Admired Companies' conducted by one of Turkey's leading business magazines, Capital, Dortok (2006) finds a correlation between corporate reputation and internal communication. Companies with positive reputations differ in their attitudes towards the relation between corporate reputation and internal communication, compared to companies with more questionable reputations. Having and maintaining a good corporate reputation require employee support. "Without a good internal reputation, your external reputation will not be good either. If your employees do not trust you, they can openly voice their feelings and thoughts to everybody, hence brutally damaging your reputation and invalidating your successes" (Young, 1996: 11-12). Studies that analyse the relationship between internal communication and corporate reputation show that employees are important stakeholders in corporate reputation and influence business results. Employees in turn are themselves positively influenced by good corporate reputation. The employee is the leading stakeholder carrying the banner of corporate reputation, be it good or bad. Corporate reputation influences employees as well. If the company is seen as a good place to work, employees tend to be happier and more efficient and the company can recruit and retain talented employees.



21

Forman and Argenti (2005) indicated that internal communications is central to the success of the company in implementing strategy and building reputation. Key employees can be seen as agents who can support or derail strategic change. They may be direct conduits to customers and other constituencies as carriers of the corporate brand and reputation. Thus, employees count as assets to be nurtured rather than liabilities to dispense with in difficult times (Forman and Argenti, 2005). Internal communication cannot be considered separately from corporate reputation because it is the basic component of corporate reputation (Dortok, 2006).

#### 2.2 Innovation

Kanter (1988) argued that higher levels of innovation can be achieved by good communication within and between organisations and sections of organisation, concluding that contact among many levels in an organisation is essential for enthusiastic, widespread involvement in organisational goals and the creation of a supportive climate for innovation (also supported by Robson and Tourish 2005). De Bussy et al. (2003) said innovation was important to the internal marketing communication construct. Ruppel and Harrington (2000) examined the relationship between communication and innovation from a stakeholder perspective. From a more practical point of view, the use of new media in the workplace is positively related to organizational attitudes towards innovation (De Bussy et al. 2003).

#### 2.3 Organisational success and improved business results

Research overwhelmingly suggests that improved internal communication brings large scale organizational benefits. For example, according to Hargie and Tourish (1993), the quality of communication among the people who make up an organisation is "a crucial variable determining organisational success". Some scholars have even identified a positive link between the flow of information within an organisation and levels of absenteeism and productivity (Schweiger and Denisi, 1991). In their study on employee communication during a merger, they found that when managers provided open and honest information to employees, even if it was bad news, the short-term pre and post merger negativity brought about by uncertainty eventually translated into lower levels of absenteeism, staff turnover and higher levels of productivity. "Internal communication is so entwined with the process of organising and with organisational structure, environment, power, and culture that many theorists of organisational communication is not only a crucial variable for organisational success, but a precursor for organisational existence as well.

Clampitt and Downs (1993) concluded that the benefits of quality internal communications include higher productivity, reduced absenteeism, higher quality of services and products, increased innovation, fewer strikes and reduced costs. The quality of communication among people within an organisation can then be considered "a crucial variable determining organisational success" (Hargie and Tourish, 1993; Henderson and McAdam, 2003).

Poole and Jenkins (1996) point out that firms with equivalent technology vary greatly in their communication systems and processes based on their levels of competitiveness, suggesting that corporate communication issues are frequently the decisive factor in business success. Tourish (1997) found that managerial effectiveness correlates with an organization's ability to develop and sustain a coherent strategy for quality internal communication. Buckley et al., (1998) underline the centrality of communications dynamics to organizational effectiveness and a major study from Watson WyattWorldwide confirms a correlation between effective communication and financial performance.

For Harshman and Harshman (1999), communication is a key factor in how well the organisation performs. In fact, "high on the diagnostic checklist of corporate health is communication" (Hall, 1980). Yates and Beech (2006) contend that companies with highly effective internal communication programs have significantly higher market premiums and shareholder returns than companies in the low-communication-effectiveness category.

Clearly, a strategic relation between internal communication and business results exists (see also Dortok, 2006).

#### 2.4 Support to change

Internal communication has a key role in the successful implementation of change management programmes, as the literature confirms (Lewin, 1951; Goodstein and Warner-Burke, 1991; Kotter, 1996; Goodman and Truss 2004). At the organizational level, communication enables change managers to challenge embedded cultural and structural norms (Deal and Kennedy, 1982; Lok and Crawford, 1999; Pinnington and Edwards, 2000). Appropriate communication helps employees understand both the need for change and the personal effects of the proposed change (Goodman and Truss, 2004). Indeed, how employees are engaged in the change process may determine its success (Peters and Waterman, 1982; Kanter, 1983; Porter, 1985; Clarkle and Clegg, 1998; Heller, 1998; Henderson and McAdam 2003). Effective communication, including transparency, supports the culture change cited as pivotal in delivering the desired organisational transformation (Pettigrew, 1985; Johnson, 1987).

Communication can increase the commitment to change (Morgan, 1988; Henderson and McAdam, 2003), prepare people for its positive and negative effects (Jick, 1993), or it can in fact be the context in which change actually occurs (April, 1999; Ford and Ford, 1995). Communication is also a way of avoiding the uncertainty that comes with change (Burns, 1992) because employees may well resist if communication is inadequate (Young and Post, 1993).

Communication is thus essential for implementing change programmes because it is a tool for announcing, explaining or preparing people (Spike and Lesser, 1995). Organizations must recognize their responsibility to function as agents of change in the corporate workplace (Wright, 1995). Quirke (1996a) emphasizes that getting communication right is vital to making change happen inside organisations, while poor internal communication sabotages efforts toward change. Internal communicators are frustrated by senior managers who seem committed, but ultimately only pay lip service to communication. The paradox created is that, during periods of organizational stress, employees want more information at the very time managers may not be able to provide it (Richardson and Denton, 1996). Communication, beyond its role in managing change, actually makes change happen. Change programmes without effective internal communications campaigns may not succeed (Quirke, 1996b; Coulson-Thomas, 1997; Kitchen and Daly, 2002). Gilsdorf (1998) contends that many mistakes in change management programmes can be directly linked to breakdowns in communication.



24

Click on the ad to read more

#### 2.5 Knowledge sharing

Internal communication is positively associated with knowledge sharing. Kalla (2005) cites empirical data that "enhance our understanding of knowledge sharing as an important and strategic function of integrated internal communications". She argues that an *integrated approach* to internal communication is beneficial when assessing knowledge sharing in organisations. She says *integrated internal communications* comprises all the academic disciplines or domains that Miller (1996) identifies as meeting at the cross-section between communication and organisational life: business, organisational, management, and corporate communication. Furthermore, integrated internal communications are not limited to the formal tasks performed by the corporate communication function but include all formal and informal communication in an organisation. Evaluating the knowledge sharing function of internal communications is important since researchers agree that the ability to effectively share knowledge internally is fundamental for maintaining a competitive advantage (Grant, 1996; Kogut and Zander, 1993; Spender, 1996).

#### 2.6 Social capital enhancement

'Social capital', a concept that is gaining attention in organisational literature, involves social relations among individuals, groups, communities, etc. Nahapiet's and Ghoshal's (1998; 243) definition of social capital includes both the individual and social aspect: "The sum of actual and potential resources embedded within, available through, and derived from the network of relationships possessed by an individual or social unit. Social capital thus comprises both the network and the assets that may be mobilized through that network". According to De Ridder and Human (2004), commitment and trust may generate social capital. And since internal communication creates commitment and trust, it can also indirectly foster the company's social capital. For Leana and Van Buren (1999), the associability of social capital refers to the willingness to engage in behaviours that benefit the organization (see also De Ridder and Human, 2004).

Thus defined, associability is closely related to organizational citizenship behaviour (OCB), which consists of helpful behaviours and gestures that are neither explicitly rewarded nor part of the individual's job description (Organ, 1988). Social capital – and the more specific concept of OCB – require a general attitude of helpfulness, considered a highly valued employee outcome, and justifiably so. Altruism and compliance directly affect achieving the organization's goals and mission because the strategic direction of an organization manifests itself in general organizational goals as well as its general approach to work (De Ridder and Human, 2004). Kalla's empirical research (2005) has shown that internal communication positively influences relational-cognitive embeddedness and knowledge-sharing, thus enhancing the company's social capital.

#### 2.7 Ethical relationships

A company's strategic communication program can help to build ethical relationships with targeted constituencies (Botan, 1997; Forman and Argenti 2005). De Bussy et al. (2003) argue that the use of new media in the workplace is positively related to the perception of an ethical work climate. The concept of an ethical work climate within organizations was developed by Victor and Cullen (1988). Ruppel and Harrington (2000) used Victor and Cullen's (1988) ethical work climate instrument for measuring perceptions of the 'right', 'just' and 'fair' treatment of employee stakeholders to test Hosmer's (1994) model linking the ethical treatment of stakeholders with trust and innovation in organizations. Strong support was found for Hosmer's (1994) model (Ruppel and Harrington, 2000). These results agree with Smidts et al.'s study (2001) on employee communication, which emphasized the central role of the communication climate – a concept closely related to the ethical climate. Thus, perceptions about ethical work climate and the degree of mutual trust within organizations comprise two key dimensions of effective internal communications.

#### 2.8 Unified corporate identity

The internal communication process contributes to a unified corporate identity by giving employees more information on the overall philosophy of their organization and its strategic direction (Ambler and Barrow, 1996; Deal and Kennedy, 1982; Ford and Ford, 1995; Kanter et al., 1992; Asif and Sargeant 2000). While corporate identity is often targeted primarily at external stakeholders, corporate branding requires that all employees adopt and behave consistently in accordance with a predetermined and common set of brand identity cues (Harris and De Chernatony, 2001). Internal audiences are valid and important audiences for corporate identity activities (Hardaker and Fill, 2005). At the heart of the corporate brand are vision and culture, which encapsulate core values. These core values should ideally guide the behaviour of employees (Collins and Porras, 1996). Freeman and Liedtka (1997) and Hemsley (1998) argue that the role of employee is changing: where once they could be just part of the company, they now need to be recognized as brand ambassadors. In service environments where employees are the interface between an organization's internal and external environments and where their actions can have a powerful effect in creating images among customers (Balmer and Wilkinson, 1991), the concept of brand ambassador is especially pertinent. Harris and de Chernatony (2001) assert that a brand's 'emotional' values are communicated not so much by planned marketing communications, but by the interactions between employees and other stakeholders. Kennedy (1977) argues that managing corporate brands gives the customer (external) and employee (internal) interface added significance. Employee behaviour must meet management's expectations for brand continuity.

Corporate brand consistency, therefore, is not achieved through formal marketing and management communications alone but through the behaviour and interactions among employees, customers and other stakeholders, a view increasingly supported by many, including McDonald et al. (2001). Hardaker and Fill (2005) confirm the importance of employee involvement in organizational identity and services brand development. They offer new insights into developing employee communication strategies. Through a case study, they show how staff can learn what the desired brand identity is; how the brand is to be presented; how to identify the key values and their role within it. They conclude that "one of the key components of an organization's identity is its staff and, in a corporate service context, employees are instrumental to the development of identity and brand reputation".

### 2.9 Reduction of the potential for misunderstandings, discrepancies and conflict

Internal communication can reduce misunderstandings, discrepancies and conflict within and between internal departments (see, for example, Smircich and Morgan, 1982; Gioia, 1986; Cheney and Vibbert, 1987; Gilly and Wolfinbarger, 1998). Asif and Sargeant (2000) noted that this might be an appropriate goal for internal communications in the future, although their research did not focus on this topic.





#### 2.10 Service quality enhancement

Internal communication can enhance service quality by ensuring an understanding of customer needs at every level (Acito and Ford, 1980; Piercy and Morgan, 1994; Reukert and Walker, 1987; Wolfinbarger and Gilly, 1991; Asif and Sargeant, 2000). Asif and Sargeant (2000) discovered that the staff of the bank they analysed was generally enthusiastic about the impact that changes in internal structures, procedures and communication had made on the service quality provided to external customers: "There's no doubt that I have been able to improve the quality of service I provide. It's a function of being better informed about what the bank has to offer and how it intends to offer it (Bank B)."

(Asif and Sargeant, 2000).

#### 2.11 Shared vision and interpretation

A primary goal of internal communication is to create a shared corporate culture and organization goals (George and Berry, 1981; McDonald, 1995; Foreman, 1997; Slissarenko, 1999; Dolphin, 2005). Asif and Sargeant (2000) note that, thanks to good internal communication, most of their survey respondents were able to cite their organization's mission statement and knew what their organization was striving to achieve in the medium to long term. Similarly, De Bussy et al. (2003) state that another key objective and possible outcome of information dissemination (an aspect of effective internal communications) is shared interpretation. Slater and Narver (1995) identified three stages in the organizational learning process: information acquisition, information dissemination and shared interpretation. They maintain there must be a consensus on the meaning of information and its implications for organizational learning to occur. De Bussy et al. (2003) examine shared interpretation in relation to goals and conclude that the use of new media in the workplace is positively related to the degree of alignment between the goals of individual employees and those of the organization. Powers (1997) confirms the positive role of effective communications for achieving alignment, which requires planning, deployment and feedback. Planning includes shaping the vision, designing the messages, and developing a plan for disseminating the message. Deployment involves four methods: cascading the messages to employees at all levels; linking individual unit objectives with the corporate mission; repeatedly broadcasting strategic messages through all types of communication media; and catchball, a Japanese concept that facilitates horizontal alignment and seamless integration of customer-supplier relationships. Feedback assesses whether messages were received, understood, and internalised.

#### 2.12 Organisational learning

According to Henderson and McAdam (2003), effective communication lends itself to organisational learning, comprised of knowledge acquisition, information distribution and interpretation (Argyris and Schon, 1996) in order to solve or overcome organisational problems. A learning organisation strives to make learning central rather than peripheral. Lampel et al. (1998) outline the basic fabric of the learning organisation in a set of five principles:

- 1) Organisations can learn as much, if not more, from failure as from success;
- 2) learning organisation rejects the adage "if it ain't broken, don't fix it";
- Learning organisations assume that managers and workers closest to the design, manufacturing, distribution and sale of the product often know more about these activities than their superiors;
- 4) A learning organisation actively seeks to move knowledge from one part of the organisation to another to ensure that relevant knowledge finds its way to organisational units that need it;
- 5) Learning organisations spend a lot of time looking outside their own boundaries for knowledge.

#### 2.13 Competitive advantage

The literature suggests that competitive advantage is a mediated outcome of internal communication, a result of effects more directly produced by the communication process. Competitive advantage results in part from knowledge sharing, service focus, change acceptance, trust and employee satisfaction, all of which can result from an effective internal communication process. Kalla (2005) points out that the knowledge sharing function of internal communications helps to maintain a competitive edge (see also Doz et al, 2001; Grant, 1996; Kogut and Zander, 1993; Spender, 1996). Dolphin (2005) states that at times of change or stress the internal message enables management to get employees on its side, contributing towards winning and sustaining a competitive advantage. Further, where conditions of trust, trustworthiness and cooperation exist between the parties may be executed more efficiently, reducing costs and creating a source of competitive advantage (De Bussy et al. 2003).

As we have seen, internal communication plays a key role in employee satisfaction, which leads to satisfied customers, better customer retention and, ultimately, a sustainable competitive advantage (Asif and Sargeant, 2000; Gronroos, 1988; Berry, 1981; George, 1990; Morvis, 1984). In general, internal communication as a source of competitive advantage derives from the importance now widely attributed to human capital (and to everything that enhances its value). The increasingly competitive advantage. Internal communication has thus acquired added significance as organizations strive to communicate customer needs, organizational values, and other key information to staff at every level and to encourage a two-way dialogue with management (Asif and Sargeant 2000).

# 3 Conclusion

This study shows that, according to many scholars, an effective internal communication process can yield many positive outcomes both at an individual level and at an organizational level.

The main individual and organizational outcomes of a quality internal communication process are listed below.

#### Individual outcomes

- 1. Commitment
- 2. Trust
- 3. Employee and job satisfaction
- 4. Improved performance
- 5. Development
- 6. Organizational supportive attitude (OSA)
- 7. Motivation
- 8. Sense of belonging
- 9. Buying in
- 10. Engagement
- 11. Loyalty
- 12. Empowerment

#### **Organizational outcomes**

- 1. Corporate reputation
- 2. Innovation
- 3. Organisational success and business results
- 4. Support to change
- 5. Knowledge sharing
- 6. Social capital enhancement
- 7. Ethical relationships
- 8. Unified corporate identity
- 9. Reduction of the potential for misunderstandings, discrepancies and conflict
- 10. Service quality enhancement
- 11. Shared vision and interpretation
- 12. Organisational learning
- 13. Competitive advantage.

Internal communication, with its tremendous potential for positive outcomes, should be considered a true *business process* that affects the economic performance of the organization (Ragusa 2010).

It is a powerful tool that can bring exceptional advantages to any organization. Consequently, internal communication should be handled in a structured, systematic way. A professional approach must account for all the potentialities of the process, carefully manage inputs and operations, and measure results.

Our research represents a preliminary analysis that has uncovered many avenues for future studies, including these neglected areas:

- Inputs to the internal communication process, including the resources (information, values, etc.) necessary at the start
- Operations, where inputs become outputs
- Monitoring and improving the processes
- How to best manage the overall process to achieve the projected goals.

We believe that a systematic research approach to internal communication as a strategic business process could lead to better management practices in a number of areas.



Click on the ad to read more

Click on the ad to read more

## 4 About the Author

Antonio Ragusa is a Lecturer in Communication and Human Resources Management at LUISS University, and in Marketing and Cross-Cultural Communication and Management at the European School of Economics, Rome, Italy

For more information, visit: www.antonioragusa.com



### 5 References

Acito, F., Ford, J.D. (1980), "How advertising affects employees", *Business Horizons*, Vol. 23, February, pp. 53–9.

Ahmed P.K., Rafiq M. (2003), "Internal marketing issues and challenges", *European Journal of Marketing*, *37*(9), 1177–1186.

Allen, N.J. and Meyer, J.P. (1996). "Affective, continuance, and normative commitment to the organisation: an examination of construct validity". *Journal of Vocational Behaviour*, 49: 3, 252–276.

Ambler, T., Barrow, S. (1996), "The employer brand", *Journal of Brand Management*, Vol. 4 No. 3, pp. 185–206.

April, K.A. (1999), "Leading through communication, conversation and dialogue", *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, Vol. 20 No. 5, pp. 231–41.

Argenti, P.A. (1998), Corporate Communication, 2nd ed., Irwin, McGraw-Hill, Boston, MA.

Argenti, P.A. and Forman, J. (2002), *The Power of Corporate Communication: Grafting the Voice and Image of Your Business*, McGraw-Hill, New York, NY.

Argyris, C. and Schon, D.A. (1996), *Organisational Learning if*, Addison-Wesley, Reading, MA. Barker, J.R., Melville,

Asif S., Sargeant A. (2000). "Modelling internal communications in the financial services sector". *European Journal of Marketing* 34, no. <sup>3</sup>/<sub>4</sub> (January 1): 299–318.

Ballantyne, D.F. (1991b), "Coming to grips with service intangibles using quality management techniques", working paper No. SWP 19/91, Cranfield School of Management.

Ballantyne, D. (1997), "Internal Networks for Internal Marketing," *Journal of Marketing Management*, Vol. 13, No. 5, pp. 343–366.

Beer, M. and Nohira, N. (2000), "Cracking the code of change", *Harvard Business Review*, Vol. 78 No. 3, pp. 133–41.

Berry, L.L. (1981) *The employee as customer*. In C.H. Lovelock (ed.), *Services Marketing*. Boston: Kent Publishing, pp. 271–8.

Berry, L.L. (1981), "The employee as customer", Journal of Retail Banking, Vol. 3 No. 1, pp. 271-8.

Berry, L.L. (1983), *Relationship Marketing*, in Leonard L. Berry, G. Lynn Shostack and Gregory D. Upah eds., *Emerging Perspectives on Services Marketing*, Chicago, IL: American Marketing Association, pp. 25–34.

Berry, L.L., Jeffrey S. Conant, and A. Parasuraman (1991), "A Framework for Conducting a Services Marketing Audit", *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, Vol. 19, No. 3, pp. 255–268.

Bijlsma-Frankema, K. (2001). "Correlates of trust in a general hospital". In *Current Topics in Management*, Vol 5. M.A.

Botan, C. (1997) "Ethics in strategic communication campaigns: the case for a new approach to public relations". *Journal of Business Communication* 34(2), 188–202.

Bovée, C.L. and Thill, J.V. (2000), *Business Communication Today*, 6th ed., Harvard Business School Press, Boston, MA.

Buckley, F., Monks, K. & Sinnott, A. (1998) "Communications enhancement: a process dividend for the organization and the HRM department?", *Human Resource Management*, 37(3/4), pp. 221–234.

Burns, B. (1992) Managing Change, 2nd edn (London: Pitman).

Butler, J.K. (1991). "Towards understanding and measuring conditions of trust: evolution of a condition of trust inventory". *Journal of Management*, 17, 643–663.

Butler, J.K. (1999). 'Trust expectations, information sharing, climate of trust, and negotiation effectiveness". *Group and Organisation Management*, 24: 2, 217–239.

Butler, J.K. and Cantrell, R.S. (1994). "Communication factors and trust: an exploratory study". *Psychological Reports*, 74, 33–34.

Cesaria, R. 2000. "Organizational communication issues in Italian multinational corporations". *Management Communication Quarterly: McQ* 14, no. 1 (August 1): 161–172.

Cheney, G. and Vibbert, S.L. (1987), *Corporate discourse: public relations and issue management*, in Jablin F., Putnam L.L., Roberts, K.H. and Porter, L.W. (Eds), *Handbook of Organizational Communication: An Interdisciplinary Perspective*, Sage Publications, Newbury Park, CA.

Clampitt, P. and Downs, C. (1993), "Employee perceptions of the relationship between communication and productivity: a field study", *Journal of Business Communication*, Vol. 30, pp. 5–28.

Clarkle, T. and Clegg, S. (1998), *Change Paradigms – the Transformation of Management for the 21st Century*, Harper Collins Business, London.

Cocozza, A. (2006), Direzione Risorse Umane – Politiche e strumenti per l'organizzazione e la gestione delle relazioni di lavoro, Franco Angeli, Milano.

Cocozza, A. (a cura di) (2010), Persone organizzazioni lavori, Franco Angeli, Milano.

Collins, J.C. and Porras, J.I. (1996) *Built to Last. Successful Habits of Visionary Companies*, Harper Collins, London, UK.

Conduit, J. and Mavondo, F.T. (2001), "How Critical Is Internal Customer Orientation to Market Orientation?" *Journal of Business Research*, Vol. 51, No. 1, pp. 11–24.





Cook, J. and Wall, T. (1980). "New work attitude measures of trust, organisational commitment and personal non-fulfilment". *Journal of Occupational Psychology*, 53: 1, 39-52.

Coulson-Thomas, C. (1992), "Strategic vision or strategic con? Rhetoric or reality?", *Long Range Planning*, Vol. 25 pp. 81–9.

Creed, W.E.D. and Miles, R.E. (1996). *Trust in organisations: a conceptual framework in Trust in Organisations: Frontiers of Theory and Research*, R.M. Kramer and T.R. Tyler (eds), London: Sage.

D'Aprix, R. (1996). *Communicating for Change – Connecting the Workplace with the Marketplace*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Publishers.

Daly F., Teague P., Kitchen P. J. (2003). "Exploring the role of internal communication during organisational change". *Corporate Communications* 8, no. 3 (January 1): 153–162.

Davies, G. and Chun, R. (2002). "Gaps between the internal and external perceptions of the corporate brand", *Corporate Reputation Review*, 5(2/3), 152.

De Bussy N., Ewing M. T., Pitt L. F. (2003). "Stakeholder theory and internal marketing communications: a framework for analysing the influence of new media". *Journal of Marketing Communications*; Sep2003, Vol. 9 Issue 3, p. 147–161, 15p.

De Ridder J., Human A. (2004). "Organisational communication and supportive employees". *Resource Management Journal*, Vol. 14 Issue 3, p. 20–30, 11p, 2 charts.

Deal T.E., Kennedy. A.A. (1982). Corporate Cultures: The Rites and Rituals of Corporate Life. Penguin. London.

DeCotiis, T.A. and Summers, T.P. (1987). "A path analysis of a model of the antecedents and consequences of organisational commitment". *Human Relations*, 40: 7, 445–470.

Di Fonzo, N. & Bordia, P. (1998) A tale of two corporations: managing uncertainty during organizational change, Human Resource Management, 37(3/4), pp. 295–303.

Dolphin, R.R. (2005), "Internal Communications: Today's Strategic Imperative". *Journal of Marketing Communications* Vol. 11, No. 3, 171–190, September 2005.

Dortok, A. (2006), "A Managerial Look at the Interaction Between Internal Communication and Corporate Reputation". *Corporate Reputation Review*. London: Winter 2006. Vol. 8, Iss. 4; pg. 322, 18 pgs.
Drenth, P.J.D., H. Thierry, and C.J. deWolff (eds.). 1998. *Handbook of Work and Organizational Psychology* (2nd Edition). East Sussex: Psychology Press Ltd.

Elving W.J.L. (2005). "The role of communication in organisational change". *Corporate Communications* 10, no. 2 (April 1): 129–138.

Ford, J.D., Ford, L.W. (1995), "The role of conversations in producing intentional change in organizations", *Academy of Management Review*, Vol. 20, July, pp. 541–70.

Foreman, Susan K. and Arthur H. Money (1995), "Internal Marketing: Concepts, Measurement, and Application," *Journal of Marketing Management*, Vol. 11, No. 8, pp. 755–768.

Forman J., Argenti P.A. (2005), "How Corporate Communication Influences Strategy Implementation, Reputation and the Corporate Brand: An Exploratory Qualitative Study". *Corporate Reputation Review* 8, no. 3 (October 1): 245–264,176.

Foy, N. (1994), Empowering People at Work, Gower, Aldershot.

Frank, A. & Brownell, J. (1989) *Organizational Communication and Behaviour: Communicating to Improve Performance* (Orlando, FL: Holt, Rinehart and Winston).

Freeman, E., Liedtka, J. (1997), "Stakeholder capitalism and the value chain", *European Management Journal*, 15(3), 286–296.

George, W.R. (1990), "Internal marketing and organisational behaviour: a partnership in developing customer-conscious employees at every level", *Journal of Business Research*, Vol. 20 No. 1, pp. 63–70.

George, W.R. and Berry, L.L. (1981), "Guidelines for advertising services", *Business Horizons*, Vol. 24, July/August, pp. 52-6.

Gilly, M.C. and Wolfinbarger, M. (1998), "Advertising's internal audience", *Journal of Marketing*, Vol. 62, January, pp. 69–88.

Gilsdorf, J.W. (1998), "Organisational rules on communicating: how employees are and are not learning the ropes", *The Journal of Business Communication*, Vol. 35 No. 2, pp. 173–201.

Gioia, D.A. (1986), *Symbols, scripts and sensemaking*, in Sims, H.P. (Ed.), *The Thinking Organisation*, Jossey Bass, San Francisco, CA, pp. 49–74.

Goodman J., Truss C. (2004), "The medium and the message: communicating effectively during a major change initiative", *Journal of Change Management*. London: Sep 2004. Vol. 4, Iss. 3; pg. 217, 12 pgs.

Goodstein. L.D. & Warner-Burke, W. (1991), *Creating successful organisation change*, in: C.A. Camall (Ed.) *Strategic Change*, Butterworth-Heinemann, Oxford.

Grant, R.M. (1996), "Toward a knowledge-based theory of the firm", *Strategic Management Journal*, Vol. 17, Winter, special issue, pp. 109–22.

Greene, W.E., Walls, G.D. and Schrest, L.J. (1994), "Internal marketing – key to external marketing success", *Journal of Services Marketing*, Vol. 8 No. 4, pp. 5–13.

Grenier, R., and G. Metes. 1992. *Enterprise Networking – Working Together Apart*. Digital Equipment Corporation.

Grönroos, C. (1981), *Internal marketing-an integral part of marketing theory*, in Donnelly, J.H. and George, W.R. (Eds), *Marketing of Services*, American Marketing Association, Chicago, IL, pp. 236–8.



Click on the ad to read more

Grönroos, C. (1983), "Service Marketing: Theory and Practice," in *Strategic Management and Marketing in the Service sector*, Cambridge, MA: Marketing Science Institute, Report No. 83–104.

Grönroos, C. (1983), *Strategic Management and Marketing in the Service Sector*, Chartwell-Bratt Ltd, London.

Grönroos, C. (1988), "Service quality: the six criteria of good perceived service quality", *Review of Business*, Vol. 9 No. 3, Winter, pp. 10–13.

Grönroos, C. (1990), "Relationship Approach to Marketing in Service Contexts: The Marketing and Organizational Behavior Interface", *Journal of Business Research*, Vol. 20, No. 1, pp. 3–11.

Grönroos, C. (1993), *Towards a third phase in service quality research: challenges and future directions*. In T.A. Swartz, D.E. Bowen and Brown S.W, *Advances in Services Marketing Management*, Vol. 2. Greenwich,

Grunig, J. and Hunt, T. (1984), Managing Public Relations, Holt, Rineholt and Winston, New York, NY.

Grunig, J.E. (1992), *Excellence in PR and Communication Management*, Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates).

Guest, D.E. and Conway, N. (2002), "Communicating the psychological contract: an employer perspective". *Human Resource Management Journal*, 12: 2, 22–38.

Gummesson, E. (1987), "Using internal marketing to develop a new culture: the case of Ericsson quality", *Journal of Business and Industrial Marketing*, Vol. 2 No. 3, pp. 23–8.

Hall, J. (1980), "Interpersonal style and corporate climate, communication revisited", in Shotgren, J.A. (Ed.), Models for Management. The Structure of Competence, Telemetrics International, TX.

Hardaker S., Fill C. (2005), "Corporate Services Brands: The Intellectual and Emotional Engagement of Employees", *Corporate Reputation Review*, *7*(4), 365–376.

Hargie, O. and Tourish, D. (1993), "Assessing the effectiveness of communication in organisations: the communication audit approach", *Health Services Management Research*, Vol. 6, pp. 276–85.

Harris, F., de Chernatony, L. (2001), "Corporate branding and corporate brand performance", *European Journal of Marketing*, 35(3/4), 441–456.

Harshman, E.Y. and Harshman, C.L. (1999), "Communicating with employees: Building on an ethical foundation", *Journal of Business Ethics*, Vol. 19 No. 1, pp. 3–19.

Hartline, Michael D., James G. Maxham III, and Daryl O. McKee (2000), "Corridors of Influence in the Dissemination of Customer-Oriented Strategy to Customer Contact Service Employees," *Journal of Marketing*, Vol. 64, No. 2, pp. 35–50.

Heller, R. (1998), *In Search of European Excellence*, 2nd ed., Caledonian International Book Manufacturing, Glasgow.

Hemsley, S. (1998) 'Internal affairs', Marketing Week, April 2, 49-53.

Henderson J., McAdam R. (2003), "Adopting a learning-based approach to improve internal communications: A large utility experience". *The International Journal of Quality & Reliability Management*. Bradford: 2003. Vol. 20, Iss. 6/7; pg. 774, 21 pgs.

Heskett, J., Jones, T., Loveman, G., Sasser, E. and Schlesinger, L. (1995), *Putting the service-profit chain to work*. In J. Bateson (ed.), *Managing Services Marketing*. Fort Worth: Dryden Press, pp. 419–28.

Hosmer, L.T. (1994), "Why be moral? A different rationale for managers". *Business Ethics Quarterly* 4(2), 191–204.

Ing-San Hwang, Der-Jang Chi (2005), "Relationships among Internal Marketing, Employee Job Satisfaction and International Hotel Performance: An Empirical Study". *International Journal of Management* 22, no. 2 (June 1): 285–293.

Invernizzi, E. (2000), La comunicazione organizzativa: teorie, modelli, metodi. Giuffrè Editore.

Invernizzi, E. (2003), *La comunicazione organizzativa: teorie*, in Fabris G. (a cura di), *La comunicazione d'impresa*, Sperling&Kupfer Editori, Milano.

Jick, T. (1993), Implementing change, in Jick, T. (Ed.), Managing Change, Irwin, Homewood, IL, pp. 192–201.

Johnson, G. (1987), Strategic Change and the Management Process, Basil Blackwell, New York, NY, pp. 244–7.

Kalla H.K. (2005). "Integrated internal communications: a multidisciplinary perspective". *Corporate Communications* 10, no. 4 (October 1): 302–314.

Kanter, R. (1988), "Three tiers for innovation research", Communication Research, Vol. 15, pp. 509-23.

Kanter, R.M. (1983), The Change Master, Routledge, London.

Katz, D. and Kahn, R.L. (1978), The Social Psychology of Organisations, Wiley, New York, NY.

Keller, S.B., Lynch D.F., Ellinger A. E, Ozment J., Calantone R., (2006). "The impact of internal marketing efforts in distribution service operations". *Journal of Business Logistics* 27, no. 1 (January 1): 109-VIII.

Kennedy, S.H. (1977) "Nurturing corporate images: Total communication or ego trip", *European Journal of Marketing*, 11(3), 120–134.

Kennedy, Karen N., Felicia G. Lassk, and Jerry R. Goolsby (2002), "Customer Mind-Set of Employees Throughout the Organization," *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, Vol. 30, No. 2, pp. 159–171.

King, W., Lahiff, J. & Hatfield, J. (1988), "A discrepancy theory of the relationship between communication and job satisfaction", *Communication Research Reports*, 5, pp. 36–43.

Kitchen, P. (1997), Public Relations: Principle and Practice, 1st ed., Thomson Business Press, London.





Kitchen, P., Daly, F. (2002), "Internal communication during change management", *Corporate Communications: An International journal*, Vol. 7 No. 1, pp. 46–53.

Kogut, B., Zander, U. (1993), "Knowledge of the firm and the evolutionary theory of the multinational corporation", *Journal of International Business Studies*, Vol. 24 No. 4, pp. 625–45.

Kotler, P. (2000). *Marketing management-analysis, planning implementation and control (10th ed.)*. Englewood cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall, 22–26.

Kotter, J.P. (1996), Leading Change, Harvard Business School Press, Boston, MA.

Kramer, R.M. and Tyler, T.R. (eds) (1996). *Trust in Organisations: Frontiers of Theory and Research*, London: Sage.

Lampel, J. (1998), *Strategy safari, a guided tour through the wilds of strategic management*, in Mintzberg, H. and Ahlstrand, B. (Eds), *The Learning School*, The Free Press, New York, NY, pp. 214–15.

Leana, C.R. and Van Buren, H.J. (1999). "Organizational social capital and employment practices". *Academy of Management Review*, 24: 3, 538–555.

Lewicki, R.J. and Bunker, B.B. (1996). Developing and maintaining trust in work relationships, in *Trust in Organisations: Frontiers of Theory and Research*, R.M. Kramer and T.R. Tyler (eds), London: Sage.

Lewicki, R.J., McAllister, D.J. and Bies, R.J. (1998). "Trust and distrust: new relationships and realities", *Academy of Management Review*, 23: 3, 438–458.

Lewin. K. (1951), Eield Theory in Social Science. Harper & Row, New York.

Lings, I.N. (1999), "Managing Service Quality With Internal Marketing Schematics," *Long Range Planning*, Vol. 32, No. 4, pp. 452–463.

Lings, I.N. and Brooks, R.F. (1998), "Implementing and Measuring the Effectiveness of Internal Marketing," *Journal of Marketing Management*, Vol. 4, No. 14, pp. 325–351.

Lok, P. & Crawford. J. (1999) "The relationship between commitment and organisational culture, subculture. leadership style and job satisfaction in organizational change and development", *Leadership and Organizational Development Journal.* 20(7). pp. 365–73.

Mathieu, J.E. and Zadjac, D.M. (1990), "A review and meta-analysis of the antecedents, correlates, and consequences of organisational commitment", *Psychological Bulletin*, 108: 2, 171–194.

Mayer, R.C., Davis, J.H. and Schoorman, F.D. (1995), "An integrative model of organisational trust", *Academy of Management Review*, Vol. 20 No. 3, pp. 709–34.

McDonald, M. (1995), Marketing Plans, Butterworth-Heinemann, Oxford.

McDonald, M.H.B., de Chernatony, L. and Harris, F. (2001) "Corporate marketing and service brands. Moving beyond the fmcg model", European Journal of Marketing, 35(3/4), 335–352.

McFarlane Shore, L. and Wayne, S.J. (1993). "Commitment and employee behaviour: comparison of affective commitment and continuance commitment with perceived organizational support". *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 78: 5, 774–780.

Meyer, J.P. and Allen, NJ. (1997), *Commitment in the Workplace: Theory, Research and Application*, Sage Publishers, Thousand Oaks, CA.

Micklethwait, J. (1999), *The end of the beginning*, The World in 2000, The Economist Publications, London, pp. 95–6.

Miller, K. (1996), "Who are we and what are we doing?", *Management Communication Quarterly*, Vol. 10 No. 1, pp. 3–4.

Mishra, A.K. (1996). Organisational responses to crisis; the centrality of trust, in *Trust in Organisations: Frontiers of Theory and Research*, R.M. Kramer and T.R. Tyler (eds), London: Sage.

Morgan, G. (1998), Riding the Waves of Change: Developing Managerial Competencies for a Turbulent Word, Jossey-Bass, San Francisco, CA.

Morvis, G. (1984), "Reasons for customer shifts in banking", unpublished research, Financial Shares Corporation, Chicago, IL.

Mowday, R.T., Steers, R.M. and Porter, L.W. (1979). "The measurement of organisational commitment". *Journal of Vocational Behaviour*, 14: 2, 224–247.

Murdoch, A. (1997), "Human re-engineering", Management Today, pp. 6-9.

Myers, M.T., and G.E. Myers. (1982). *Managing by Communication – An Organizational Approach*. New York: McGraw-Hill Book Company.

Nahapiet, J., & Ghoshal, S., 1998, "Social capital, intellectual capital, and the organizational advantage". *Academy of Management Review*, 23(2), 242–266.

Nebeker, D., Busso, L., Werenfels, P.D., Diallo, H., Czebajewski, A., & Ferdman, B. (2001), "Performance as a function of employee satisfaction". *Journal of Quality Management*, 6, 29–45.

Oliver, R.L. (1997), Satisfaction: A Behavioral Perspective on the Consumer, McGraw-Hill, Boston, MA.

Oliver, S. (1997), Corporate Communication: Principles, Techniques and Strategies, Kogan Page, London.

Organ, D.W. (1988). *Organisational Citizenship Behaviour: the Good Soldier Syndrome*, Lexington, M.A: Heath and Co.

Patterson, P. (2000), "Courting employees", Best's Review, Vol. 100 No. 12, pp. 81-3.

Peters, T.J., Waterman, R.H. (1982), In Search of Excellence, Harper Collins, London.



## **MBA at Maastricht School of Management**

If the goal of your career is to be an uncontested asset to company operations in emerging and developing markets, then the MBA of Maastricht School of Management is the right program for you. This internationally accredited one-year fulltime program combines management theory with practical experience and applied research. You will be trained within an international and multicultural environment to become one of tomorrow's global leaders.

For more information, check out our website **www.msm.nl**, call us on + 31 43 38 70 808 or send an e-mail to admissions@msm.nl

the globally networked management school



Pettigrew, A (1985), *The Awakening Giant: Continuity and Change in Imperial Chemicals Industries*, Basil Blackwell, Oxford.

Pfeffer, J., Veiga, J.F. (1999). "Putting people first for organizational success". *Academy of Management Executive*, 13(2), 41–43.

Piercy, N., Morgan, N.A. (1994), "The marketing planning process: behavioral problems compared to analytical techniques in explaining marketing plan credibility", *Journal of Business Research*, Vol. 29 No. 3, pp. 167–78.

Pinnington, A. & Edwards. T. (2000). *Introduction to Human Resource Management*. Oxford University Press, Oxford.

Poole, M. and Jenkins, G. (1996), "Competitiveness and human resource management policies", *Journal of General Management*, Vol. 22, pp. 1–19.

Porter, M. (1985), Competitive Advantage, The Free Press, New York, NY.

Postmes, T., Tanis, M. and de Wit, B. (2001), "Communication and commitment in organisations: a social identity approach", *Group Processes and Intergroup Relations*, Vol. 4 No. 3, pp. 207–26.

Powers V.J. (1997). "Internal communications as a strategic function". *Strategy & Leadership*. Chicago: Mar/Apr 1997. Vol. 25, Iss. 2; pg. 44, 1 pgs.

Proctor T., Doukakis I. (2003), "Change management: The role of internal communication and employee development". *Corporate Communications* 8, no. 4 (January 1): 268–277.

Quirke B. (1996a). "Putting communication on management's agenda". *Journal of Communication Management*, Vol. 1 No. 1, pp. 67–79.

Quirke, B. (1996b), Communicating Corporate Change, McGraw-Hill, London.

Rafiq, M. and Ahmed, P.K. (1993), "The scope of internal marketing: defining the boundary between marketing and human resource management", *Journal of Marketing Management*, Vol. 9 No. 3, pp. 219–32.

Rafiq, M. & Ahmed, P.K. (2000). "Advances in the internal marketing concept: Definition, synthesis and extension". *Journal of Service Marketing*, 14 (6), 449–462.

Ragusa, A. (2010), *La comunicazione come processo di business. Un modello teorico e applicativo*, in Cocozza, A. (a cura di), *Persone organizzazioni lavori*, FrancoAngeli, Milano.

Reukert, R.W. and Walker, O.C. (1987), "Marketing's interaction with other functional units: a conceptual framework and empirical evidence", *Journal of Marketing*, Vol. 51, January, pp. 1–9.

Richardson, P. & Denton, D. K. (1996) Communicating change, Human Resource Management, 35(2), pp. 203–216.

Rogers, Everett M., and Rekha Agarwala Rogers. 1976. *Communication in Organizations*. New York: Free Press.

Ruppel, C.P. and Harrington, S.J. (2000). "The relationship of communication, ethical work climate, and trust to commitment and innovation". *Journal of Business Ethics*, 25: 4, 313–328.

Schweiger, D. and De Nisi, A. (1991), "Communicating with employees following a merger: a longitudinal field experiment", *Academy of Management Journal*, Vol. 34 No. 1, pp. 100–35.

Senge, P., Kleiner, A., Roberts, C., Ross, R., Roth, G. and Smith, B. (1999), *The Dance of Change: A fifth Discipline Resource*, Nicholas Brealey, London.

Sheppard, B. and Tuchinsky, M. (1996). Micro-OB and the network organisation in *Trust in Organisations: Frontiers of Theory and Research*, R.M. Kramer and T.R. Tyler (eds), London: Sage.

Singh, J. (2000), "Performance Productivity and Quality of Frontline Employees in Service Organizations," *Journal of Marketing*, Vol. 64, No. 2, pp. 15–34.

Sitkin, S.B. and Roth, N.L. (1993). 'Explaining the limited effectiveness of legalistic "remedies" for trust/distrust'. *Organisation Science*, 4: 3, 367–403.

Slater, S.F., Narver, J.C. (1995) "Market orientation and the learning organization". *Journal of Marketing* 59(3), 63–74.

Smidts, A., Pruyn, A.T.H. and Riel, C.B.M. (2001), "The impact of employee communication and perceived external prestige on organisational identification", *Academy of Management Journal*, Vol. 49 No. 5, pp. 1051–62.

Smircich, L. and Morgan, G. (1982), "Leadership: the management of meaning", *Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, Vol. 18 No. 3, pp. 257–73.

Spence, W.R. (1994), *Innovation: The Communication of Change in Ideas, Practices and Products*, Chapman & Hall, London.

Spender, J.C. (1996), "Making knowledge the basis of a dynamic theory of the firm", *Strategic Management Journal*, Vol. 17, Winter, special issue, pp. 45–62.

Spike, B.K., Lesser, T.B.A. (1995), "We have met the enemy", Journal of Business Strategy, 16(2), pp. 17–23.

Stayer, R. (1990), "How I learned to let my workers lead", Harvard Business Review, Vol. 68, pp. 66-83.

Sutherland, S. (1992), Irrationality, Constable, London.

Tansuhaj, P.S., Randall, D., & McCullough, J. (1991). "Applying the internal marketing concept within large organizations: As applied to a credit union". *Journal of Professional Services Marketing*, 6(2), 193–203.

Thomas, D.R.E. (1978, July-August). "Strategy is different in service businesses". *Harvard Review*, 56, 158–165.

Thomson, K., Hecker, L. (2000), "Value-adding communication: innovation in employee communication and internal marketing", *Journal of Communication*, Vol. 5 No.1, pp. 48–58.





Tourish, D. (1997). "Transforming internal corporate communications: The power of symbolic gestures and barriers to change". *Corporate Communications*, *2*(3), 109–116.

Tourish, D. and Hargie, O. (2004a), "Preface", in Tourish, D. and Hargie, O. (Eds), *Key Issues in Organizational Communication*, Routledge, London, pp. xii-xxv.

Tourish, D. and Hargie, O. (2004b), "The crisis of management and the role of organizational communication", in Tourish, D. and Hargie, O. (Eds), *Key Issues in Organizational Communication*, Routledge, London, pp. 1–16.

Trombetta, J.J. and Rogers, D.P. (1988). "Communication climate, job satisfaction and organisational commitment". *Management Communication Quarterly*, 1: 4, 494–514.

Tyler, T. and Degoey, P. (1996). Trust in organisational authorities: the influence of motive attributions on willingness to accept decisions in *Trust in Organisations: Frontiers of Theory and Research*, R.M. Kramer and T.R. Tyler (eds), London: Sage.

Unzicker, D., Clow, K.E. & Babakus, E. (2000), "The role of organizational communications on employee perceptions of a firm", *Journal of Professional Services Marketing*, 21(2), pp. 87–103.

Varey, R.J. (1995), "Internal marketing: a review of some interdisciplinary challenges". *International Journal of Service Industry Management* 6(1), 40–63.

Victor, B. and Cullen, J.B. (1988), "The organisational bases of ethical work climates", *Administrative Science Quarterly*, Vol. 33 No. 1, pp. 101–25.

von Krogh, Georg, Kazuo Ichijo, and Ikujiro Nonaka. (2000), *Enabling Knowledge Creation: How to Unlock the Mystery of Tacit Knowledge and Release the Power of Innovation*. Oxford University Press.

Welsch, H.P. and LaVan, H. (1981). "Inter-relationship between organisational commitment and job characteristics, job satisfaction, professional behaviour, and organisational climate". *Human Relations*, 34: 12, 1079–1089.

Whitener, E.M., Brodt, S.E., Korsgaard, M.A. and Werner, J.M. (1998). "Managers as initiators of trust: an exchange relationship framework for understanding managerial trustworthy behaviour". *Academy of Management Review*, 23: 3, 513–530.

Witherspoon, P.D. (1997), *Communicating Leadership – An Organizational Perspective*, Allyn & Bacon, Boston.

Wolfinbarger, M.F. and Gilly, M.C. (1991), "A conceptual model of the impact of advertising on service employees", *Psychology and Marketing*, Vol. 8, Fall, pp. 215–37.

Wright, D.K. (1995), "The role of corporate PR executives in the future of employee relations", *Public Relations Review*, 21(3), pp. 181–198.

Yates K., Beech R. (2006). "Six crucial steps to effective global communication". *Strategic Communication Management* 10, no. 5 (August 1): 26–29.

Young, D. (1996), Building Your Company's Good Name: How to Create & Protect the Reputation Your Organization Wants & Deserves, Macom, New York, NY.

Young, M., Post, J.E. (1993), "Managing to communicate, communicating to manage: how leading companies communicate with employees", *Organizational Dynamics*, 22(1), pp. 31–43.

Zand, D.E. (1997). The Leadership Triad. Knowledge, Trust and Power, New York: Oxford University Press.



